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Chapter 1


‘Year of the Slaughter’: A Grim Prologue
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BLIADHAIN AN ÁIR


Every year energetic Dubliners rise early to climb Killiney Hill, south of the city, to greet the dawn on midsummer’s day. As they look down to watch the first rays touch some of the most sumptuous private residences in the country and brighten a part of the Irish Sea, often compared with the Bay of Naples, only a few of them will know why there is an obelisk at the summit, or why there are remains of a huge wall surrounding the hill. These constructions are evidence of a great relief scheme to provide work for the starving in 1741, funded by John Mapas of Rochestown, one of the few wealthy Catholic landowners remaining in south County Dublin at the time. And close to a grand Palladian mansion in Co. Kildare, Castletown House, stands another obelisk – huge, elaborate and 70 feet high – erected by the orders of Lady Katherine, widow of a former Speaker of the Irish House of Commons, William Conolly. This too had been put up at the same time and for the same purpose – to provide work for the starving. Two years later in 1743 a Major Hall of Churchtown, south of the city, erected a very large conical stone building, broad at the base and narrow at the top, with a spiral stairway on the outside. This was no gentleman’s folly: known for a time as the ‘Inkbottle’ and later as the ‘Bottle Tower’, it had been built as a barn to hold such a large store of grain so that no one in the area would ever starve to death again.1 These are modest reminders of what today is a little-known event, an episode which was nevertheless one of the greatest tragedies in the history of modern Ireland, a famine so terrible that it was recalled as bliadhain an áir, ‘Year of the Slaughter’.


It was also a crisis that persuaded members of the ‘Charitable Musical Society for the Release of Imprisoned Debtors’ in Dublin that an unprecedented step should be taken to raise the relief funds



so desperately needed. As tens of thousands were perishing from hunger and fever, members of this charity joined forces with the governors of Mercer’s Hospital and the Charitable Infirmary in the city, to invite over from London the greatest composer they knew of, George Frideric Handel. They would ask him to conduct a benefit concert of compositions of his own choosing in the Society’s new Music Hall in Fishamble Street. It was in this way that the sacred oratorio, Messiah, came to be given its first performance in Dublin on 13 April 1742.


THE ‘GREAT FROST’


On 29 and 30 December 1739 ‘the most violent storm … for several years past’ brought with it bitter cold from the east. As the New Year began three ships foundered in Dublin Bay – a French vessel bringing in casks of brandy, a Riga fly-boat laden with flaxseed, and a Liverpool sloop with a cargo of salt and earthen ware. All the passengers on the sloop were drowned and the body of its captain was found on Merrion Strand ‘covered over with ice’.


Throughout January 1740 Arctic weather gripped Ireland, so intense that vast numbers of fish were found dead around the shores of Strangford Lough and Lough Neagh. In north Tipperary a whole sheep was roasted on top of 19 inches of ice on the River Shannon at Portumna, ‘at the eating of which they had great mirth, and drank many loyal toasts’.2 Afterwards a hurling match was played on the ice between two teams of gentlemen. So sharp was the frost that people from Tyrone walked directly across the frozen waters of Lough Neagh as they travelled to the market in Antrim town.


Lasting seven weeks, this ‘Great Frost’ froze the sea around both English and Irish ports, halting the shipping of coal from Cumbria, Ayrshire and south Wales across the Irish Sea to Dublin. Desperate citizens tore up hedges and ornamental shrubs around the city, and 14 men were arrested for felling trees in Phoenix Park. At night Dublin’s streets were plunged into darkness: most street lamps had no fuel left since waterwheels could not turn to press enough rapeseed to replenish them with oil; and lamplighters found that the few still with oil were quickly extinguished by the extreme cold.3


Ireland was not alone: all of western Europe north of the Alps and the Pyrenees was gripped by this intensely cold weather. Air



masses spread from northern regions of the Russian Empire as blocking anticyclones – an extension of the semi-permanent high-pressure region near the North Pole – reversed the direction of the usual south-westerly flow. The winter of 1739–1740 proved the longest and coldest in modern western European history. As early as the end of October 1739 ice had put an end to voyages in the Baltic. All the rivers in Germany were already frozen by the first of November. At Kew outside London measured rainfall for the last six months of 1739 had accumulated to an extraordinary 16.17 inches. Then bitter easterly winds, blowing at gale force without ceasing for a week at the end of 1739, caused temperatures to drop close to or below 0°F (-17.7°C) over most of England. The Denmark Sound froze solid in February 1740 enabling people to travel by sledge between Elsinore and Sweden. The Zuyder Zee in the Dutch Republic froze over completely. A million head of sheep perished in Bohemia; in Burgundy’s wine-growing region a third of the vines were killed; minimum temperatures of –18°F (-27.7°C) in Uppsala and –26°F (-54°C) in Warsaw were recorded; and even in Pavia in northern Italy temperature readings fell below freezing point every single day in February, on one occasion to 3°F (-16 °C). Scotland was more fortunate: there heavy falls of snow covered winter corn with a protective blanket, unlike in many other countries where frost killed the seed in the ground.4


‘THE MOST DREADFUL CALAMITY THAT EVER BEFELL THIS POOR KINGDOM’


Over nearly all of Europe the winters for the previous ten years had been exceptionally mild and generally harvests had been bountiful. This had not been the case for Ireland: here the Great Frost hit the ordinary people of the island particularly hard as it followed a succession of half a dozen years of abnormal weather severely reducing farm yields. The most vulnerable, found mostly in the southern half of the country, were those who depended on the potato both for food and as a cash crop. Now the temperature plummeted so greatly that potato stores in straw-covered clamps in the ground were turned to inedible pulp. As Michael Rivers, a Co. Waterford merchant, observed, the frost:







has already destroyed a great part of the potatoes that lie in the cabins that lodge them and most of the potatoes of our country that are in the ground, by which the poor are likely to suffer greatly.5





Three weeks later Richard Purcell wrote from north Cork:





The eating potatoes are all destroyed, which many will think will be followed by famine among the poor, and if the small ones, which are not bigger than large peas and which be deepest in the ground, are so destroyed as not to serve for seed, there must be sore famine in 1741 … If no potatoes remain sound for seed, I think this frost the most dreadful calamity that ever befell this poor kingdom.6





Around Upper and Lower Lough Erne the usual cost of a barrel of potatoes was between 8s and 10s; in 1740 the price had risen to 32s a barrel. The price asked in Dublin for a barrel of oats went up from 7s to 12s, and by May 1741 it had reached 15s.


In Dublin a fund was launched to deal with the crisis. Donations were collected in the more prosperous Church of Ireland parishes in the east of the city to provide relief to artisans and weavers in the Liberties. During the last week of January nearly 80 tons of coal and 10 tons of meal were freely distributed. The viceroy, the Duke of Devonshire, ordered that £100 be taken from the state coffers to be added to Dublin’s appeal fund.


So many wild birds had been killed by the cold that there was an eerie silence across the land. This poem appeared in Faulkner’s Dublin Journal:





No lark is left to wake the morn


Or rouse the youth with early horn;


The blackbird’s melody is o’er


And pretty robin sings no more.





No thrush to serenade the grove


And soothe the passions into love,


Thou sweetest songster of the throng,


Now only live in poet’s song.







Huge numbers of cattle and sheep had been killed by the extreme cold. On 3 February Jonathan Swift, Dean of St Patrick’s Cathedral, hoped that ‘we have almost done with this cursed weather’7 and, indeed, soon after the temperature began to rise. It was no longer safe to walk over the frozen River Liffey. But when the thaw set in the usual rains did not follow. In consequence, there was little or no grazing for those animals that had survived the frost. ‘The cattle are all dying,’8 it was reported from Lismore in Waterford at the end of March. In April a correspondent from north Wexford wrote to the Dublin newspaper, Pue’s Occurrences:





Without rain what is to become of us? The corn that is sowed is perishing, the corn we have in our haggards is so prodigious dear the poor cannot purchase it … As for flesh meat they cannot smell to it, they have lost all their sheep long ago, and now their last stake, their little cows are daily and hourly dropping for want of grass.9





This abnormal drought was not confined to Ireland. On 24 May the London Advertiser reported: ‘Grass and Corn were all burnt up, and the Fields looked as red as Foxes’.10 By the second week of June 1740 corn prices in Ireland were twice what they had been in January; at Drogheda a mob boarded and smashed up a vessel laden with corn; and in the capital at the end of May the Dublin News-Letter reported:





The bakers having made but little household bread, the populace were so greatly enraged that they broke open their shops that night and on Sunday; some sold their bread and gave them money, others took it away, and in this manner they went through the city.





On the following Monday the mob roamed out of the city to seize meal from mills in Harolds Cross and its neighbourhood. As they attempted to restore order, soldiers called out from the Royal Barracks killed several rioters. Troops had to patrol the markets and streets for the ensuing five days and nights. Fourteen men and one woman were charged with rioting and theft of food. Five were acquitted; three were publicly whipped; and three more were gaoled for three months each.



The remaining four received seven-year sentences to be transported to the New World; however, all escaped from their prison ship off the coast of Waterford and one got back home to Dirty Lane in Dublin only to be re-arrested after assaulting a gardener – he was executed two months later.11 The drought was so severe that the streams that usually turned the water wheels to power corn mills and woollen tuck mills dried up. In the tinder-dry conditions fires raged in many towns: 150 houses burned down in Carrick-on-Suir, Co. Tipperary, 53 in Wexford town, and 20 in the village of Moate, Co. Westmeath.


The harvest in the autumn of 1740, depleted though it was, brought some relief. Then bad weather returned. Violent gales blew in September, followed by blizzards along the east coast in October, covering Belfast in what were described as ‘prodigious’ quantities of snow. Indeed, the autumn of 1740 was probably the coldest in two centuries in all of Great Britain and Ireland. Two terrible storms hit the country in November, accompanied by more snow and frost. On 9 December the heavens opened with such force that floods were reported across the island, washing houses and ‘whole trees’ into the River Liffey, and one correspondent from Navan, Co. Meath, described ‘the greatest flood in the River Boyne that was ever known in the memory of man’.12 On the following day temperatures dropped and the Arctic weather returned. A foot of snow fell in the Midlands on 13 December. Once again rivers froze over with ‘the people sliding and skating everywhere’ on the Liffey.13


PRIMATE BOULTER ORGANISES RELIEF


The Irish Parliament then met only every second year. When the session ended in May 1740 William Cavendish, 3rd Duke of Devonshire, returned to England with his viceregal entourage, not to come back to Ireland for another 18 months. His place at the head of government in Ireland was taken, as was the usual practice, by the three Lords Justices. On this occasion they were: the Church of Ireland primate, Hugh Boulter, Archbishop of Armagh; the Speaker of the Irish House of Commons, Henry Boyle; and Robert Jocelyn, Baron Newport, the Lord Chancellor. On 15 December 1740 Samuel Cooke, Lord Mayor of Dublin, made a formal visit to Dublin Castle to consult with the Lords Justices ‘on proper measures to reduce the price of corn’.14




The Lords Justices responded swiftly. A meeting of the Irish Privy Council was called and each high sheriff was instructed to record all the stocks of grain held by merchants and farmers in their particular county. A detailed return survives only for Co. Louth: it revealed that in all the county there were 85,000 barrels of grain, indicating that only one household in five in the county had enough food to see them through the following months. There is no reason to believe that the rest of Ireland was in any better condition.


Archbishop Boulter, though advanced in years, acted with great energy. He started a scheme of relief in Dublin on New Year’s Day 1741. Rations were to be given free to genuine residents of the city who were now destitute ‘by the deadness of trade and dearness of bread’ so that they would not be forced to beg on the streets.15 The city’s workhouse in James Street, which had been transformed into a foundling hospital, was turned into a food depot; the institution’s governors being on hand to sign meal-tickets for those entitled to be assisted. By mid-January 3,000 were being fed every day. By April the numbers had reached 4,400. At first the archbishop was paying for this out of his own pocket; it cost him £18 a day. Then George Berkeley (the noted philosopher and Bishop of Cloyne), Dean Swift, and a number of noblemen rallied round to contribute and raise funds. Some prominent citizens, including the Lord Mayor, were so grateful to Archbishop Boulter that in March they commissioned the painting of his portrait. In Waterford nearly 2,000 were being served boiled oatmeal two days a week, and the authorities were especially active in Cork city.16 Over most of the rest of the country, however, there was an almost complete absence of an organised system of relief. A devastating famine was now sweeping across the island, together with its handmaiden: fever.


‘A BLOODY FLUX AND A VIOLENT FEVER RAGES’


Extreme fluctuations in the weather not only ruined crops and killed domestic stock but also led to widespread epidemics of fatal diseases. The severe and protracted cold winter of 1739–1740 lengthened the time people stayed indoors, huddled together, and this close personal contact – especially in cramped and poorly ventilated dwellings – intensified the risks of contracting deadly louse-born and respiratory afflictions. Then the long drought that



followed helped the diffusion of bacteria that led to enteric diseases, particularly dysentery and typhoid fever. In any case, when their bodies were weakened by hunger and hypothermia, people more easily fell prey to infections such as dysentery, then known as ‘the bloody flux’. John Usher, a land agent at Lismore, Co. Waterford, wrote to his employer in London in February: ‘a bloody flux and a violent fever rages so all over the country that scarce a day passes that we do not bury fifteen or sixteen even in this small place … For my own part, were it not for the business of this place I would fly for my life’.17


Now the killing diseases were typhus and relapsing fever, infections spread mainly by the human body louse. Typhus produced delirium, vertigo, a high fever, bloodshot eyes and small, round, pinpoint purple-red spots caused by haemorrhages just under the skin. In the second week of the disease victims suffered delirium and became helpless, unable to move, eat or drink without assistance. Most victims died from heart failure or complications such as bacterial pneumonia. From west Cork Sir Richard Cox wrote: ‘By all I can learn, the dreadfullest civil war, or most raging plague never destroyed so many as this season’.18 The Rev. Philip Skelton, curate of Monaghan parish, reported that there were ‘whole parishes in some places … almost desolate; the dead have been eaten in the fields by dogs for want of people to bury them’.19


The wealthy and powerful also succumbed to fever. They included Sir Alexander Staples, a leading Dublin merchant, and three judges: Lord Chief Justice Sir John Rogerson, ‘lamented by the poor to whom he was a constant benefactor’; Prime Serjeant Richard Bettesworth, MP for Midleton, Co. Cork; and Chief Baron Wainwright who died in his home at Mount Merrion, a few miles south of Dublin.20


A FEARFUL HARVEST


Out of a population of around 2,400,000, between 310,000 and 480,000 died that year of 1741 as a direct result of famine and fever. A greater proportion of the population died in this one year than during the five years of the Great Famine in the 1840s when the population was more than three times larger. All Europe experienced famine conditions in 1741, but no country,



except for Norway, suffered as much as Ireland. How can this extraordinarily high death toll for Ireland be explained? After all, the extreme weather affected all of western and northern Europe and, indeed, adverse conditions for farming continued longer elsewhere, particularly in Scandinavia, than in it did in Ireland.


The answer seems to be that those in authority failed to put into effect the most elementary measures needed to safeguard the destitute from hunger and starvation. Though the dearth in Prussia was acute, and the state was at war, timely and efficient action by its government prevented a catastrophe. In France, the King’s controller general, Philibert Orry, engaged the Parisian banker, Isaac Thellusson, to buy up cereals wherever he could. Thellusson even obtained corn from Ireland and set about his work so enthusiastically that Orry, to his embarrassment, was left with a huge stock of unsold grain by the autumn of 1741 to the value of around 13 million livres. In England the Elizabethan Poor Law obliged each parish to provide relief to the old, the sick, the destitute and the ‘casual poor’. This included ‘outdoor relief’ in the form of food, fuel and clothing, and in this way a mortality crisis was averted during 1739–41.21 In Scotland the system of poor relief was not compulsory but it seemed to work as well as the obligatory system in England.


Acute famine conditions and the deaths of tens of thousands were to be found primarily in outlying possessions of dynastic powers. Norway was then merely a province, part of the territory held by the Danish monarchy; Sweden still ruled Finland; and what is now Belgium was one of the scattered dominions of the Austrian Habsburgs. All three governments failed to do enough and mortality levels were very high in consequence and, in the case of Norway, equal to that in Ireland.22


Ireland was in theory a separate kingdom, but in fact a British possession ruled by George II. Though an Irish Parliament met in Dublin, ultimate authority rested in London. The 1720 Declaratory Act had confirmed that Westminster could legislate for Ireland, should it wish to. More important, the British Privy Council had a supervisory role over Irish legislation through Poynings’ Law, enacted in its original form in 1494; it was able to amend or suppress Irish bills which could not then be revived or re-amended. Here there was no system of obligatory poor relief. Parishes were expected – but



not compelled – to provide relief. In spite of its title, the Church of Ireland was not the church of most of the island’s inhabitants. Only a few of those who were in distress during the Great Frost and the Year of the Slaughter were members of that church’s congregation. Those in authority were of a different religious persuasion to most of those being struck down by famine and fever. Some prominent landlords with estates in the most distressed areas were absentees, living most of the time on the other side of the Irish Sea. In short those responsible for governing Ireland, at both a national and a local level, lacked the funding, the staff, the machinery to provide relief, and in some cases the will, to prevent a catastrophe in time of crisis, especially in the countryside.


REMANDED IN CUSTODY


The death toll seems to have been at its highest in the province of Munster. Though hordes of starving families poured into Dublin seeking relief, often in vain, vigorous action by Archbishop Boulter and others, and timely importation of corn from the American Colonies, kept down the loss of life from hunger and fever in Ireland’s capital city. Nevertheless, no part of the country escaped the consequences of this terrible famine. The desperation of so many kept the courts inordinately busy. Speaker Boyle was informed that magistrates in the Munster circuit were ‘grievously offended daily with miserable spectacles, expiring wretches and noisome smells’.23 Most had been remanded in custody for the theft of cattle or of food, because:





provisions are so scarce that ’tis impossible to supply all, and there is now scarce a night passes without accounts from different parts of the country of cows, sheep or some kinds of provisions being stole, and the jails are already so full that the consequence is greatly to be dreaded.24





Lord Chancellor Jocelyn, writing to Philip Yorke, Earl of Hardwicke, on 29 March 1741, expressed the view that the health of judges would be ‘worn down’ by the great number brought before them in the courts. Many judges handed out sentences of death for those convicted of the theft of food. At county assizes in 1741 there



were 67 capital convictions, around three times the average for the previous two years. In 1742 the figure was double that figure again as magistrates dealt with the backlog of those on remand from the year before. Of all death sentences in the years 1739–1748, 82 per cent were handed down in 1741 and 1742. In some places leniency was shown: there were so many crammed into prison on remand for the theft of food in Co. Kildare that most were given their freedom in batches after simply being branded on the hand.25 There was no question, however, of releasing those incarcerated who could not pay their debts – the objects of concern of the Charitable Musical Society.


GAOL INMATES: ‘THEIR EYES ARE FALLING OUT AND THEIR BONES PIERCING THEIR SKINS’


The maintenance of business confidence depended heavily on knowing that the law as it applied to debtors and insolvents was fully enforced. The government in turn was anxious to ensure that the courts did their duty. Parliament frequently concerned itself with the issue with the result that the law became extremely complicated.26 The outcome for those who could not meet the demands of their creditors did not change, however: incarceration in prison. Irish legislation provided for the recovery of small debts by a variety of means, but there was no law which made it possible to recover larger sums through process against a debtor’s property. Neither land nor liquid assets such as bills of exchange could be seized for payment of debt, except in cases of bankruptcy. Only a few could be classed as bankrupts – for the most part they were wholesalers whose businesses had failed. Everyone else with no hope of paying their debts – including shopkeepers, tavern proprietors, farmers, drovers and artisans – could not be classed as ‘bankrupts’ and were designated ‘insolvents’. In short, the fate of the great majority of those who could not answer their creditors was imprisonment. Indeed, it is more than likely that many members of the Charitable Musical Society had relatives or friends who had at one time or another endured the life-threatening experience of being cast into one of the city’s gaols for debt.27


Debtors and insolvents could be held in any of Dublin’s six prisons, in particular: the national debtors’ prison, the Four Courts Marshalsea in Molesworth’s Court, off Fishamble Street; Kilmainham Gaol



on the banks of the River Camac which specialised in imprisoning debtors of Dublin county; and Newgate in Cornmarket, a prison principally for criminals but debtors were also sent there. Without a doubt, conditions in Newgate were worse than in any other gaol in Ireland. All those sentenced by the judges of the King’s Bench, the Lord Mayor, or Justices of the Peace for the City of Dublin were directed to be sent there. However, only the poorest were held in Newgate because constables could be bribed to take them instead to gaols less vile and life-threatening. The committee charged by the Irish Parliament to enquire into Irish gaols, reported in 1729 that ‘none are sent to’ Newgate ‘but those of the poorer sort who are not worth fleecing’.28 This was most vividly illustrated by the revelation that John Audovin, during his six weeks incarceration in the Black Dog gaol (a former tavern in Newhall Street) while he was waiting to be executed, had to spend the extremely large sum of £300, most of it to prevent a transfer to Newgate.29


The post of head gaoler of Newgate was given to the man who made the highest bid and could offer substantial financial securities. Since the salary was trifling, he recouped his outlay and made his money by charging his prisoners for their accommodation and many extras. Prisoners from outside the city boundary got neither bread nor bedding and so, to survive, they had to beg money from their families and friends to meet the gaoler’s extortionate demands. Those from the city itself got a six-penny loaf of bread every eight days (which in 1741 weighed only four pounds), described as ‘a poor substance (God knows) in this dreadful season’.30 Not until 1764 were those applying to become gaolers forbidden to pay ‘a fee, emolument or gratuity’ and only from then did they have to display prominently a table of fees in the prison.31 Right up to this date, in a practice known as ‘brocking’, money was extorted from new arrivals at Newgate and in the City Marshalsea. According to a letter in the Freeman’s Journal, if money was:





not immediately paid by the newcomer, he or she, will be stripped, naked (and in the case of resistance be pinned fast with cords) to be carried to the necessary house and there ducked until almost suffocated and their cloaths pledged until the sum is paid.32







Faulkner’s Dublin Journal, published very close to Newgate, did what it could to arouse the compassion of readers. In March 1741 it reported that four prisoners in that gaol





have within these few days died through real hunger, as it most shockingly appeared from their having eaten their tongues almost out of their heads, and many other such spectacles of poverty, their eyes are falling out, and their bones piercing their skins.





Donations received by the newspaper were converted into bread, cheese and beer to be given to the prisoners.33


By the spring of 1741 more than 140 prisoners were crammed into Newgate. Most were on remand for the theft of food but many, too, were debtors. As the preamble to an Irish relief act had acknowledged back in 1737, ‘such unhappy debtors have always been deemed the proper objects of public compassion’.34 The voluntary body whose main object was to free as many as possible of these ‘unhappy debtors’ was the Charitable Musical Society.


A MUSICAL JOURNEY THROUGH ‘HELL’: TO THE SIGN OF THE CROSS-KEYS AND ON TO THE BULL’S HEAD TAVERN IN FISHAMBLE STREET


The origins of the Charitable Musical Society which was to be primarily responsible for inviting Handel to Dublin, and which was to erect the music hall in which Messiah was first performed, are to be found in the shadow of Christ Church. Here, dominating steeply rising ground on the Liffey’s south bank, this venerable cathedral overlooked the city’s busiest district. Faced by the Tholsel, the headquarters of Dublin’s civic government, on Skinners’ Row and flanked by no fewer than four parish churches, Christ Church was hemmed in on all sides. The cathedral’s chapter house and medieval cloister had long since been swallowed up by the Four Courts of Chancery, King’s Bench, Common Pleas and Exchequer and, what had once been residences for ecclesiastical dignitaries, had now been converted into inns, shops and printing houses. Those being brought for trial from Christ Church Lane had to enter ‘Hell’, a dark narrow passage – covered with an arch adorned with an image of the Devil carved in oak – nearly ten feet below the cathedral floor leading directly to the courts. It was here in Christ Church Yard –



not quite 100 feet long and no more than 50 wide, bustling with attorneys, legal clerks, witnesses, plaintiffs, aldermen, vergers and vendors – that John Neal (or O’Neil) had begun making recorders, flutes and violins early in the eighteenth century. From 1721 he was selling sheet music imported from England and two years later he began printing his own, his first publication being a Choice Collection of the Newest Airs, Minuets and Play House Tunes. Then in 1724, Neal, now in partnership with his son William, published the earliest printed collection of Irish music, including pieces by Ireland’s great harpist, Turlough Carolan. In time at least 28 musical publications – ranging from works by Corelli and Handel to John Gay’s The Beggar’s Opera – issued from the Neal printing press. The Neals were also accomplished performers on a variety of instruments and much in demand after a day’s work to play in the neighbouring taverns.


At an early stage these men with a shared passion for music, meeting for convivial impromptu concerts in inns and each other’s homes, saw the opportunity to raise money for worthy causes. In 1710 a club formed to put on plays to raise money for charity had been set up by a respected shopkeeper, Gregory Byrne. A few years later, in a tavern called the Sign of the Cross-Keys, just a few yards away from the Neals’ workshop in Christ Church Yard, Byrne’s club was absorbed to become the nucleus of a new charitable society, now concerned with musical performances rather than dramatic productions. When the charitable society’s first president, Patrick Beaghan, died in 1723, John Neal presided as his successor for many years thereafter. Since the Cross-Keys inn was too cramped for their planned vocal and instrumental performances, they arranged to hold their meetings in the Bull’s Head Tavern in Fishamble Street.35 This inn was accessed through another stygian passage matching ‘Hell’ on the other side of Christ Church Yard.


‘Hell’ seems to have been aptly named: the condemned were taken from one of the four courts down across Christ Church Yard through this dark lane out into Fishamble Street and downhill to the narrow entry leading to the Four Courts Marshalsea in Molesworth’s Court. John Harding had published the Dublin News-Letter next to this prison in this cul-de-sac. He had put himself in peril by printing one of the notorious Drapier’s Letters



in 1724. Harding refused to reveal that ‘the Drapier’, the author of these satirical tracts, lampooning the government and declared treasonable by the Irish Privy Council, was none other than Jonathan Swift. For this Harding was cast into the Marshalsea. The Dublin News-Letter survived, its production transferred to Skinners’ Row, but Harding did not: the privations suffered in a dark, disease-ridden prison cell were too much for him and he died shortly after being released. A poem entitled ‘A Poem to the whole People of Ireland’, relating to M.B. Drapier, by A.R. Hosier, printed in the Blind Key by Elizabeth Sadlier, 1726 explained in the second verse:







He left, with his widow, two children behind,


And little, God help her! to keep them from starving;


But hop’d, for the Drapier’s sake, friends she would find,


Or that for his own merit they’d think her deserving.








The sufferings of Sarah, Harding’s widow, were not over. In October 1725 it was ordered by the House of Lords that she be taken into custody for printing a poem entitled ‘Wisdom’s Defeat’, commenting on the passing of an address to the King by the Lords, which was by them declared to be ‘base, scandalous, and malicious, highly reflecting upon the honour of their House, and the Peerage of this Kingdom’. The sheriffs of the city of Dublin were ordered to direct ‘the said scandalous pamphlet to be burnt by the hands of the common hangman; and that they see the same done between the hours of twelve and one, before the gate of the Parliament House, and also before the Tholsel of the city’. Sarah Harding was duly imprisoned but, unlike her husband, she survived the experience.36


The grim Four Courts Marshalsea was largely hidden by other buildings from the eyes of what were by now the fashionable residents of Fishamble Street. During the reign of Charles II, fishmongers and butchers who for centuries had held their markets here had been ordered to transfer their trades north of the river to Ormond Market. The stench of the fishambles, fleshambles and tanning pits no longer tainted the air and thus the character of Fishamble Street, which ran steeply down the east side of Christ Church, had been transformed. This thoroughfare was fast becoming one of Dublin’s best-known venues for music. Half way down Fishamble Street, opposite St John’s



church, the Philharmonick Room had been built for the Musical Academy (which renamed itself the Philharmonick Society in 1741) as a replacement for its hall in Crow Street. Several large cage-work houses still stood in this street, though several had been destroyed, including the London Tavern, by a fire which had broken out in the London Entry between Castle Street and Fishamble Street in 1729. (Cage-work houses were substantial half-timbered structures erected in the sixteenth century: external and internal walls had been constructed of squared oak beams joined by mortises, tenons and wooden pegs, with the spaces between filled with plaster and brick, and roofed with tiles, shingles or slates.) The Bull’s Head Tavern was the largest cage-work house still standing on the western side of Fishamble Street. Belonging to the Dean and Chapter of Christ Church, it had once been leased as a town house by the Plunketts, the earls of Fingall, and still bore on its front that family’s coat of arms. The Bull’s Head Tavern was much prized as a venue for convivial meetings and celebrations and it became the regular home of the Charitable Musical Society.


THE CHARITABLE MUSICAL SOCIETY RAISES FUNDS TO LIBERATE IMPRISONED DEBTORS


The charitable musical club formed in the Cross-Keys inn, named at first the ‘Bull’s Head Society’ after the tavern where performances were held, met every Friday evening. When a concert was over, members finished the night with ‘catch singing, mutual friendship, and harmony’.37 It cost five shillings – ‘an English crown’ – to become a member and a committee arranged a programme of musical events for each year. The society’s annual dinner was held in December; the season for their entertainments ended in May; and the proceeds were allocated to various laudable purposes. At first funds were given to the Dublin Society (a society founded in 1731 to promote scientific and practical improvement, now the Royal Dublin Society), but then the Bull’s Head Society formed a committee to visit gaols in the city and to pay for the liberation of incarcerated debtors. The release of insolvents from prison thereafter became the principal charitable object of the society. Laurence Whyte, teacher of mathematics and an active member, was concerned to draw attention to the exceptional inclusiveness of this charitable organisation. Its members ranged from titled



gentlemen to humble artisans and – a particularly striking feature – it appears to have had no difficulty including Catholics. Whyte had close connections with many Catholic families and may even have been a Catholic himself. He wrote a long poem to describe the society during the time that John Neal was president. It begins:





While honest Neal the mallet bore,


Who filled the chair in days of yore,


There lawyers met, and eke physicians,


Attorneys, proctors, politicians;


Divines and students from the College,


Men full of speculative knowledge;


Captains and coll’nel’s all in red,


Who in the school of Mars were bred.


Some beaux and prigs, with nice toupees,


With wast-coasts lac’d down to their knees;


Some poets, painters, and musicians,


Mechanicks, and mathematicians,


For tradesmen there gave no offence,


When blessed with manners or good sense;


Some gentlemen, some lords and squires,


Some Whigs, and Tories, and Highflyers;


There Papists, Protestants, Dissenters,


Sit cheek by jole, at all adventures,


And thus united did agree


To make up one Society.


That some drink jill, and others beer,


Was all the schism they had to fear.38





For a time the society moved to the George in Fishamble Street and after that to The Bear in Winetavern Street; by then it had changed its name to ‘The Charitable and Musical Society’. As the society attracted more members it moved back again to the Bull’s Head Tavern. Here it adopted titles which during the 1730s ranged from ‘The Bull’s Head Club in Fishamble-street for Releasing Prisoners’ to ‘The Charitable Musical Society for the Relief of Insolvent Debtors’ and ‘The Charitable Musical Society for the Release of Imprisoned Debtors’.39




‘THE CHARITABLE MUSICK HALL IN FISHAMBLE-STREET, WHICH IS FINISHED IN THE GENTEELEST MANNER’


John Neal’s son, William, acted as treasurer of this body through all its changes of name and venue. It was he who masterminded the construction of the ‘Great Musick Hall’, often referred to as ‘Mr Neal’s Great Room’. This auditorium was built specifically to put on concerts for the benefit of their charity, while the society continued to hold convivial evenings in the more intimate surroundings of the Bull’s Head Tavern. The society engaged Richard Cassels (or Castle) to build the Great Musick Hall in Fishamble Street on a site facing the Bull’s Head Tavern. Cassels, the most distinguished architect then working in Dublin, had first been brought over from Germany in 1727 by Sir Gustavus Hume to build his country mansion, Castle Hume, by the shores of Lough Erne. Thereafter he moved to Dublin where he built great houses for the nobility in cut stone. Cassels’s commission for the Fishamble Street Musick Hall came more or less at the same time as his contract to design the city’s most splendid mansion so far, Tyrone House in Marlborough Street, for Marcus Beresford, Viscount Tyrone.


The Musick Hall in Fishamble Street, when it was completed in 1741, was Ireland’s largest concert venue. It could seat 700. At the eastern end it had a ‘throne’ for the president of the society. The following year Laurence Whyte described it in verse:





As Amphion built of old the Theban wall,


So Neal has built a sumptuous Musick Hall;


The one by pow’rful touches of his lute;


The other by the fiddle and the flute.


Join’d with some others of harmonic sound,


He rais’d this lofty fabric from the ground;


Where heaps of rubbish in confusion stood,


Old walls, old timber, and some rotten wood;


From their old chaos they new forms assume, –


Here stands the Hall, and there the drawing room,


Adorn’d with all that workmanship can do


By ornaments and architecture too.


The oblong area runs from east to west.


Fair to behold, but hard to be exprest;


At th’ eastern end the awful throne is plac’d,


With fluted columns and pilasters grac’d,


Fit for the noblest President to rest,


Who likes the arms of Ireland for his crest.


In different classes, at the western end,


Musicians with their instruments attend;


While they diffuse their harmony around,


The concave arch reverberates the sound.


The architect has here display’d his art,


By decorations proper for each part:


The cornice, dentills, and the curious mould,


The fret-work, and the vaulted roof behold;


The hollow arches, and the bold design,


In ev’ry part with symmetry divine.40





The hall was formally opened on 2 October 1741 with a Charitable Musical Society concert. To help defray expenses, the new building was hired out to suitable organisations and individuals. For example, two ladies, Mrs Hamilton and Mrs Walker, organised an ‘Assembly’ there every Saturday evening – advertisements they inserted in the press described the venue as ‘The Charitable Musick Hall in Fishamble-street, which is finished in the genteelest manner’.41


The extreme weather of 1740 and the famine that followed it in 1741 placed a heavy burden on the city’s charitable organisations. In Dublin’s grim, insanitary gaols, debtors and insolvents, men and women who were the objects of concern for the Charitable Musical Society, languished together with other criminals and great numbers on remand charged with the theft of food. The funds raised by the society to help these imprisoned men and women must have been impressive. Faulkner’s Dublin Journal had this report in its 14–17 March 1741 issue:







The Committee of the Charitable Musical Society appointed for this year to visit the Marshalseas in this City, and release the Prisoners confined therein for debt, have already released 188 miserable persons of both sexes. They offered a reasonable Composition to the Creditors. And many of the Creditors being in circumstances almost equally miserable with their Debtors, due regard was paid by the Committee to this Circumstance.





As well as paying off the creditors, the Society had also to pay the fees demanded by the gaolers before the debtors could be freed.42


‘THUS DEVONSHIRE, OUR SORROWS TO ALLAY,
INVITES THE NATION TO HEAR HANDEL PLAY’


Just when the Charitable Musical Society for the Release of Imprisoned Debtors decided to take the step of inviting Handel to come to Dublin is not known. The society’s committee thought it made good sense to join forces with two other charities in the city with impeccable credentials.


One was the Charitable Infirmary in Cook Street, founded by six Catholic physicians who had pooled their resources in 1718 to provide – initially – just four hospital beds. It is thought to be the oldest voluntary hospital in either Ireland or Great Britain. Thanks to charitable persons who ‘came cheerfully into an annual subscription’ there were nine beds by 1724. In 1728 the Charitable Infirmary moved north of the Liffey to larger premises on Inn’s Quay, on a site now occupied by the present Four Courts. John Watson Stewart’s 1740 Gentleman’s and Citizen’s Almanac outlined the services provided:





In this House, great numbers of maimed, wounded, and diseased poor, are constantly relieved. There are above 36 beds, with provision and all necessaries for interns, who are received into the house, and constantly attended; as well as medicines and advice gratis for all externs, who flock in numbers thither daily. The charity is altogether supported by the voluntary contributions of the well-disposed.





The surgeons attending provided their services ‘without fee or reward’.43




The second voluntary body to join with the Charitable Musical Society was Mercer’s Hospital, founded in 1734 by Mrs Mary Mercer who had given a large house at the end of Stephen Street to be turned into a hospital for the reception of ‘lunatics and persons afflicted with the King’s evil [scrofula], cancer, leprosy, falling sickness, etc.’44 Dublin Corporation had given £50 towards fitting out the house, and a very substantial legacy from a Captain Hayes had made it possible to build a large extension enabling the institution to increase the number of its beds to 62. Mercer’s Hospital was unquestionably the city’s most prominent charity which was able to draw Dublin’s élite, including the Lord Lieutenant when he was in town, once or twice a year to its benefit performances in the ‘Round Church’, St Andrew’s, in Suffolk Street. Indeed, these concerts had given the citizens of Dublin their first opportunity to listen to Handel’s sacred music. Peers of the realm readily accepted nomination as governors but, apart from acting as stewards at the benefit performances, only Lord Tullamore and Lord Mountjoy appear to have made an appearance at board meetings.45


Most biographies of Handel inform readers that the Duke of Devonshire delivered the invitation to Handel to come to Dublin. That is possible but by no means certain. The assumption that the viceroy issued the invitation arises from a long poem written by Laurence Whyte. His collection, Original Poems on Various Subjects, published in 1742, was ‘most humbly dedicated’ to ‘the Right Honourable, Honourable, and Worthy Members of the most Ancient, Charitable, and Musical Society at Mr. Neal’s new Music-Hall in Fishamble-street, Dublin: Consisting of Lords, Knights, Gentlemen and Citizens’. The collection included this poem with an almost impossibly long title, A poem On The general Effect and Excellency of Musick, but now more particularly on the famous Mr. Handel’s Performance, and Compositions, who has lately been invited into this Kingdom, by his Grace the Duke of Devonshire, Lord Lieutenant of Ireland. The second verse begins:





Our Isle’s from Famine and Contagion free,


What now remains but Song and Harmony,


But Devonshire, to make it more compleat,


Has brought us Handel in his Science great,




Grand in his Aspect, Faculties, and Skill,


With Compositions flowing from his Quill





If only because he was in receipt of regular payments from the King, Handel would have needed royal permission to come to Ireland. This required a senior official to request leave from London and, since the three charities could not do this, the Duke or Sir Robert Wilmot, the London representative of the Irish government, may well have obliged them by doing so. As the music historian David Hunter has observed: ‘From Devonshire’s viewpoint the issuance of an invitation was an easy way to claim credit for providing the élite with a stellar diversion after the despair of the previous twenty-one months’.46 Handel and the Duke were probably not acquainted, for Devonshire, unlike his viceregal predecessors, did not subscribe to opera in London.


Whyte’s long poem is a panegyric, concerned as much to heap praise on the viceroy as on the visiting composer. Written during Handel’s visit to Ireland, and more than two months before the première of Messiah, a notice in Pue’s Ocurrences specifically referred to the invitation:





Shortly to be published A Poem by Laurence Whyte on the General Effect and Excellency of Music, particularly, on the famous Mr. Handel’s performance, who has been lately invited into this Kingdom by his Grace the duke of Devonshire, lord lieutenant of Ireland, for the Entertainment of the Nobility and Gentry.





And, indeed, the poem did not hesitate to give the Duke credit for bringing over a composer who had been taking Dublin society – ‘the Nation’ – by storm:





Thus Devonshire, our Sorrows to allay,


Invites the Nation to hear Handel play,


Soon as his Grace appear’d on Irish Ground,


Our two Year’s Famine were in Lethe drown’d …


This Blessing, cou’d Hybernia once obtain,


No more shou’d any murmur or complain.







When Handel received an invitation at the behest of the three charities he could begin to see the advantages of travelling over to Ireland. After all, the charities requested only one benefit performance and all the rest of his time in Dublin could be spent organising and directing his own concert series. The success of the composer’s visit to Oxford in 1733 may well have encouraged him to expect a handsome financial return in the Irish capital. The role of Matthew Dubourg would have been pivotal. Handel had known him ever since he had heard the child prodigy play the violin standing on a stool in London. Dubourg had been engaged to lead the orchestra in several of Handel’s operas in the capital before being appointed Master of the State Music in Dublin Castle. He regularly travelled back to London and would have explained to Handel what Dublin could offer in the way of instrumentalists, choristers, venues and the like. Dubourg must have given Handel assurances that interest in the city would be such that he could profit from the whole venture.


There may well have been an understanding made with representatives of the charities that Handel would try out a new composition for them in Dublin. Never at any stage was Messiah referred to, not even during the first couple of months of the composer’s stay in Ireland.47 Clearly Handel was giving himself time to assess the mood of his Dublin audiences, metaphorically keeping the score of his sacred oratorio in his back pocket until he felt that they were ready to hear its first performance.













Chapter 2


Handel: The German Creator of the English Oratorio


[image: Images]


A LONDON AUDIENCE ENTRANCED


On 24 February 1711 the cream of London society crowded into the city’s splendid Queen’s Theatre in the Haymarket for the first night of the opera Rinaldo. The complicated plot was frankly ludicrous: the young crusader Rinaldo, during the siege of Jerusalem, finds that his beloved Almirena has been abducted by the sorceress Armida. With the help of the Furies and his commander Goffredo, Rinaldo drives off monsters guarding a magic mountain, turns a hanging garden into a desert with the wave of a magic wand, and rescues the heroine from certain death at the hand of the sorceress who avoids being hacked down in an instant for her wickedness by promptly converting to Christianity.1


This première was rapturously received. The audience was awestruck by the sumptuous costumes, the seductive sirens, the fire-breathing dragons and the elaborate scenery, which included a mountain reaching up to the roof of the stage, flocks of live chaffinches flying between the onstage trees, realistic impressions of thunder and lightning, and fireworks – patrons being assured by the Spectator that in case of an accident ‘there are several Engines filled with Water, and ready to play at a Minute’s Warning’.2 Those who were present forgave the fact that stagehands forgot to move some wing flats causing the sea to appear wrongly among the trees, that a chariot failed to materialise for the pagan champion Argante, and that some ladies had their finery spoiled by songbirds defecating from above. Above all, the audience was entranced by the rich, dramatic music, especially the rendering of magnificent arias by Niccolò Grimaldi, Elisabetta Pilotti and other star singers imported from Italy. And Handel, the composer, trusted – correctly as it turned out – that few would notice that most of the music for the opera was recycled material, cherry-picked from a wide range of his earlier compositions.3




‘THE TOWN IS RUN MAD AFTER A NEW OPERA’


Born Georg Friederich Händel in Halle in the state of Saxony in 1685, he began his career as an organist, and then moved to Hamburg in 1703 where he became a harpsichordist-conductor. Possibly invited by Prince Ferdinando de Medici, son of the Grand Duke Cosimo of Tuscany, Handel then travelled to Italy. There, though he quickly became known as ‘The Saxon’, he was happy to sign himself Giorgio Federico Hendel. It was in Italy that the composer spent some of the most formative years of his musical career. This German Lutheran, whose grandfather had been a pastor, whose first employer had been a Calvinist minister, now accepted the patronage of Cardinal Pietro Ottoboni in Rome, and in 1707 wrote a setting of Psalm 110, Dixit Dominus domino meo, forming part of the Vesper Offices. His first Italian opera, Rodrigo, had its première in Florence. Handel struck up a friendship with the composer Alessandro Scarlatti, and followed him to Venice. By the spring of 1708 he was back in Rome where his new patron, Marchese Francesco Maria Ruspoli, commissioned him to write for that Easter a large-scale oratorio on Christ rising from the dead. Oratorio per la resurrezione di Nostro Signor Gesu Cristo was given a magnificent staging in the Marchese’s palace – 1,500 printed word-books had been made available for the huge audience and members of it were able to follow the text by the light of no fewer than 16 candelabras.


By the autumn of 1708 Handel was in Naples, possibly to keep out of the way of armies rampaging through much of Italy that year. Indeed, Ruspoli himself was on campaign leading a regiment out of Rome in September. In Naples Handel was commissioned by Cardinal Vincenzo Grimani to compose the serenata Aci, Galatea e Polifemo, a dramatic cantata for the wedding of the Duke of Alvito to Donna Beatrice di Sanseverino. The following year he was working on his opera Agrippina ready for the 1709–10 winter season in Venice. This proved to be his greatest triumph, so far. Later, his biographer John Mainwaring declared that the ‘theatre, at almost every pause, resounded with shouts and acclamations of viva il caro Sassone and other expressions of approbation too extravagant to be mentioned’.4


In 1710 Handel was on his way north. He had been offered the prestigious post of Kapellmeister (a position which placed him in charge of the orchestra and choir) to the court of Georg Ludwig,



Elector of Hanover, with a salary of 1,000 thaler. The Elector’s mother, Sophia, wrote to the Queen of Prussia that Handel ‘plays the harpsichord marvellously to the enjoyment of the Electoral Prince and Princess’.5 Later the Electoral Prince, as King George II, would be Handel’s most stalwart patron. During this time Handel got an invitation from Charles Montagu, the Duke of Manchester, to come to London. The Duke had met Handel when he was Britain’s ambassador to Venice; since then he had been searching for singers and musicians on behalf of his friend John Vanbrugh, the dramatist and promoter who had designed the Queen’s Theatre in the Haymarket. The Elector of Hanover had his own good reason for giving his Kapellmeister leave to go to London: Queen Anne had had 13 pregnancies but not one child had survived and her husband Prince George had died in 1708. To avoid a Catholic succession, the queen was by now fully reconciled to the accession after her death of her distant relative, the Elector of Hanover. Besides, Anne was already developing a strong liking for Handel’s compositions.


The first Italian opera performed in London had been Giovanni Bononcini’s Camilla staged at Drury Lane in March 1706. From then on London society seemingly could not get enough of Italian opera. Jonathan Swift – still in London and yet to be appointed Dean of St Patrick’s cathedral in Dublin – was appalled, as he wrote to a friend:





The Town is run mad after a new Opera. Poetry and good Sense are dwindling like Echo into Repetition and Voice … these Opera’s will be the ruin of the Nation … A good old Lady five miles out of Town askt me tother day, what these Uproars were that her Daughter was always going to.6





In short the Elector’s Kapellmeister had arrived in a city with an élite hungering for Italian music, divas, castrati and spectacle. Handel was quick to do his best to meet that need. London had recently bypassed Paris to become the largest city in Europe and, at the centre of a thriving and expanding colonial empire, the nobility coming ‘to town’ as each winter approached had the deep pockets required to fund the lavish entertainment for which so many of the gentry craved. England had internationally famous poets and writers but, since the untimely death of Henry Purcell in 1695, it had produced no composer that



could be placed in the first rank. Handel was in a very advantageous position to fill that vacancy.


Rinaldo’s run of 15 performances was considered a brilliant success, and established Handel’s name in England. His company was eagerly sought after. The composer accepted invitations to several of the private concert clubs then flourishing in London, including one which met in the house of the merchant Thomas Britton in Aylesbury Street off Clerkenwell Green. Britton sold coal from the ground floor of his home, and then converted the upper storey into a concert room. Handel played here along with several who in time would become his good friends. One of these was a young boy, Matthew Dubourg. He made his solo debut in Britton’s concert room, standing on a stool: he would become a great violin virtuoso, an accomplished musical director and an occasional composer, and – 30 years later – he would lead the orchestra at the first performance of Messiah in Dublin.7
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